AUG. 25, 2025

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

415 12th Ave SW

Olympia, WA 98501

Tel: 360-357-2077

Washington Sase #: 1045018 Supreme Court

RE: FILE A PETITION FOR SEEK REVIEW THE CASES BELOW BY THE SUPREME COURT

#1:

ANGE WANG

PLAINTIFF.

VS.

WASHINGTON and LANCE HO

DEFENDANTS.

#2:

ANGEL WANG

Appellant,

Vs.

KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN OF

WASHINGTON and LANCD HO

Respondents.

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF

WASHIGTON

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING

CASE#: 24-06306-4 KNT

The Court of Appeals of the

State of Washington

CASE #: 870432

Dear Honor,

FACTS

In March 2017, Ange Wang met with Dr. Lance Ho at Kaiser Permanente Orthopedics concerning pain in his left foot. Dr. Ho diagnosed Wang with "left

moderate bunion and moderate 1st metatarsal phalangeal arthritis" and performed a left 1st metatarsophalangeal joint fusion on May 5, 2017. Wang had several follow-up appointments, where he complained of continued pain and stiffness. Dr. Ho stressed the importance of Wang wearing his CAM¹ boot for six weeks post-operative (post-op). In several of his follow-up visits, Wang admitted to only wearing his boot "sometimes" or "very little" and taking it off when he was at home. At Wang's six-week post-op visit, Dr. Ho instructed him to wear his boot another four weeks. At this visit, Dr. Ho determined Wang's foot was healing well with no sign of infection.

In December 2019, Wang was still experiencing pain in his foot and he met with Dr. Craig Clifford at Virginia Mason. Dr. Clifford informed Wang that a nonunion to the affected area had occurred, and the two discussed the option of fusion revision surgery. Wang did not move forward with surgery at that time.

In March 2020, Wang received a letter from an attorney, presumably in response to an inquiry from Wang, concerning his foot surgery. The letter stated, in pertinent part:

I have reviewed the records you provided to us (38 pages).

Based on the records provided there is no clear indication of a breach of standard of care. In order to determine that, I would at a minimum need records from other physicians who have treated you for your foot condition after the surgery of [redacted].

We are going to be hard pressed against the statute of limitations (May 5, 2020) on this case to send records out and obtain an opinion on whether the treatment provided by Dr. Lance Ho met the standard of care.

¹ CAM is the abbreviation for "controlled ankle movement."

In April 2020, Wang requested mediation with Dr. Ho and Kaiser under RCW 7.70.110. In the mediation request, Wang alleged Dr. Ho's surgery "fail[ed] to follow the standard of care of reasonable and prudent health care providers under the circumstances." Wang stated he was unhappy with the results and had been in pain "[s]ince the surgery in 2017." In late April 2020, Kaiser responded to Wang acknowledging his mediation request. Kaiser informed Wang his request for mediation extended the statute of limitations on his medical negligence claim. Kaiser included the elements that must be established for a claim of medical negligence and told Wang his claim would be kept open until May 5, 2021, at which time the statute of limitations would expire.

In December 2020, Kaiser sent Wang a letter informing him that his claim had been reviewed and the record did not indicate that Dr. Ho breached the standard of care when performing Wang's surgery. The letter reiterated the required elements of a medical malpractice claim and noted there must be expert medical testimony to show negligence. Kaiser stated the "painful non-union at the fusion site . . . was not due to negligence by any health care provider, but rather [was] a potential outcome of this surgery without negligence." The letter concluded by reminding Wang the statute of limitations for his claim expired May 5, 2021.

In early April 2023, Wang went to urgent care after experiencing severe foot pain. According to Wang, the doctor told him that the metal rod Dr. Ho inserted in 2017 was at risk of breaking through the skin. Not wanting to go to

Kaiser for another surgery, Wang requested a referral. In August 2023, Wang underwent surgery at Virginia Mason to fix the nonunion.

In May 2023, Wang lodged a complaint with the Washington State

Department of Health against Dr. Ho and Kaiser. In his complaint, Wang noted
he had been in extreme pain since the surgery in May 2017. Wang claimed he
had tried to contact Dr. Ho and Kaiser numerous times after the surgery, but
never received a response.

The Washington Medical Commission closed Wang's complaint without investigation and notified Wang. Wang requested reconsideration and included progress notes, claim documents, and photos of his foot as new information.

The Commission notified Wang that his claim was reviewed by another panel, but the panel did not authorize further action, and the complaint would remain closed.

In September 2023, Wang initiated a suit against Dr. Ho claiming medical malpractice arising from his foot surgery. The case was dismissed without prejudice for failure to properly serve Dr. Ho. Wang initiated a new suit in March 2024, naming both Dr. Ho and Kaiser as defendants. Dr. Ho and Kaiser moved for summary judgment, claiming the expiration of the statute of limitations barred Wang's claims and Wang did not present any expert testimony to support his claim of violation of the standard of care and proximate cause. The court granted the motion for summary judgment.

Wang appeals.

ANALYSIS

Standard of Review

We review summary judgment orders de novo. *Keck v. Collins*, 184
Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015). We consider all evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Davies v. MultiCare Health Systems*, 199 Wn.2d 608, 616, 510 P.3d 346 (2022). "Summary judgment is proper if there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Davies*, 199 Wn.2d at 616. A genuine issue of material fact exists when "the evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Reyes v. Yakima Health District*, 191 Wn.2d 79, 86, 419 P.3d 819 (2018).

Statute of Limitation

Wang contends the trial court erred in granting summary judgment because sufficient evidence existed in the record to create a question of fact as to when he discovered the basis for his medical malpractice claim. Kaiser asserts Wang's claim is time barred because Wang knew of his injury immediately after the surgery or, in the alternative, early enough that the statute of limitations had expired when Wang brought his claim. Because, looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to Wang, the evidence shows that he should have reasonably discovered his injury by 2019 at the latest, we agree with Kaiser that his claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

The statute of limitations to bring a medical malpractice claim is "within three years of the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition, or one year of the time the patient or [their] representative discovered or reasonably should have discovered that the injury or condition was caused by said act or omission, whichever period expires later." RCW 4.16.350. However, if a party, in good faith, requests a mediation to address the dispute related to the injury, the statute shall be tolled for one year. RCW 7.70.110.

To determine whether a party should have reasonably discovered the injury, we ask whether, after a plaintiff "'is placed on notice by some appreciable harm occasioned by another's wrongful conduct,' " did the plaintiff "'make further diligent inquiry to ascertain the scope of the actual harm' "? Clare v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 129 Wn. App. 599, 603, 123 P.3d 465 (2005) (quoting Green v. American Pharmaceutical Co., 136 Wn.2d 87, 97, 960 P.2d 912 (1998)). The plaintiff has the burden to prove the facts constituting the harm were not discoverable within the statute of limitations. Clare, 129 Wn. App at 603. Generally, whether a party exercised due diligence is a factual issue for the jury, precluding summary judgment, Clare, 129 Wn. App at 603, but, "when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law." Clare, 129 Wn. App at 603.

Here, Wang claims he did not discover Dr. Ho's malpractice until he went to urgent care on April 8, 2023. But Wang clearly indicated he was

in pain and upset with the outcome of the surgery since 2017. In his complaint to the Department, Wang stated he had been in pain since the surgery, and he went back to Dr. Ho several times after the surgery complaining of "severe pain."

Even if Wang could show he did not discover the condition at the time of surgery or shortly thereafter, his meeting with Dr. Clifford in 2019 indicates he was aware, or reasonably should have been aware, of a problem with Dr. Ho's surgery. Furthermore, after meeting with Dr. Clifford, Wang communicated with an attorney concerning a "breach of the standard of care" related to his foot surgery. Less than a month after his visit with Dr. Clifford, Wang submitted a request for mediation with Kaiser. In the mediation request, Wang stated the action giving rise to the mediation "arises from treatment provided to Ange Wang in the Bellevue Kaiser Permanente Medical Center around 05/05/17."

If the meeting with Dr. Clifford is considered the date of discovery, then Wang's request for mediation in April 2020 was timely, and the statute of limitations was tolled to May 5, 2021. This was communicated to Wang in letters from Kaiser on April 29, 2020 and December 17, 2020. But, even with this information, Wang did not initiate his complaint until September 22, 2023—more than two years after the statute of limitations ran out.

Because Wang discovered, or should have reasonably discovered, the condition underlying his claim in 2019 at the latest—and potentially as

early as 2017—his complaint is barred by the statute of limitations.

Accordingly, the court did not err when it granted summary judgment.²

We affirm.

Birk, f.

WE CONCUR:

² Wang also claims the trial court erred in granting summary judgment based on his lack of expert witness testimony. Because summary judgment was appropriate under RCW 4.16.350 and RCW 7.70.110, we do not reach this issue. But, even if we were to address the issue, expert testimony is generally necessary to establish a standard of care in a medical malpractice action. *Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., P.S.*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983).