FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2025 2:15 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1045018

Court of Appeals No. 870432 – Division I

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANGE WANG,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN OF WASHINGTON and LANCE HO,

Defendants-Respondents.

DEFENDANT KAISER FOUNDATION HEALTH PLAN OF

WASHINGTON AND LANCE HO, MD'S

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Levi S. Larson, WSBA No. 39225 Geraldine Anne T. Enrico, WSBA No. 54917 Larson Health Advocates, PLLC 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98101 levi@lhafirm.com geraldine@lhafirm.com

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the dismissal of Ange Wang's frivolous and untimely medical malpractice claims against his former treating providers, Lance Ho, MD (Dr. Ho), and Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. On May 5, 2017, pursuant to Dr. Ho's discussions with Mr. Wang, Dr. Ho performed a left 1st metatarsophalangeal joint fusion on Mr. Wang at Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. Mr. Wang submitted a Request for Mediation to Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington on April 9, 2020, which extended the statute of limitations by one year pursuant to RCW 7.70.110. Mr. Wang failed to file suit before May 5, 2021, and his medical malpractice claims are now time barred.

Mr. Wang filed the first lawsuit, Cause No. 23-2-18202-2 KNT, arising from his May 5, 2017, surgery on September 22, 2023, against Dr. Ho. The trial court dismissed the first lawsuit without prejudice for lack of personal jurisdiction over Dr. Ho

due to Mr. Wang's failure to serve Dr. Ho within 90 days of filing the Complaint as required by RCW 4.16.170.

Mr. Wang filed the second lawsuit, Cause No. 24-2-06306-4 KNT, arising from his May 5, 2017, surgery on March 21, 2024, against both Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho. On August 2, 2024, the trial court granted Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho's CR56 Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing Mr. Wang's second lawsuit with prejudice.

Mr. Wang appealed the Summary Judgment, and on July 28, 2025, the Court of Appeals affirmed it. The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Wang's Motion for Reconsideration on August 21, 2025.

In requesting review of the summary judgment dismissal of his claims Mr. Wang confuses issues of law and fact that have been properly addressed by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals. None of the grounds raised by Mr. Wang in his Petition for Review meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). Moreover, Mr.

Wang's Petition for Review do not comply with the requirements of RAP 13.4(c) and RAP 18.17(a) and (b). The Petition for Review should be denied.

II. IDENTITY OF THE ANSWERING PARTY

Respondents Lance Ho, MD (Dr. Ho), and Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington (collectively "Respondents") by and through their attorneys of record, respectfully ask the Court to deny the Petition for Review.

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Medical Treatment from which Mr. Wang's Allegations of Negligence Arise was Well Within Standard of Care.

On March 17, 2017, Mr. Wang presented to Dr. Ho with "complaints of left 1st metatarsal phalangeal joint pain and progressive deformity over the years. Pain affect[ed] [Mr. Wang's] ability to walk and exercise." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 2, 17-19, 174, 289-290. Upon physical examination, Dr. Ho found an obvious deformity with bony prominence over 1st metatarsal phalangeal joint. CP at 17-19, 289-290. Dr. Ho assessed Mr.

Wang with "left moderate bunion and moderate 1st metatarsal phalangeal arthritis." *Id*.

Dr. Ho proposed the following treatment options: modification of activities or surgical fusion of left 1st metatarsal phalangeal joint. *Id.* Dr. Ho discussed the risks of the surgical fusion with Mr. Wang, which included, but were not limited to, "recurrence of problem or failure to correct problem. Non healing of wound, bone, ligament, or tendon. Need for further surgery over time. May expect residual swelling... Future arthritis." *Id.* Dr. Ho also noted that recovery can take several months and even up to a year. *Id.* Dr. Ho advised that, for a fusion, Mr. Wang would have to be heel weightbearing with a postoperative controlled ankle motion (CAM) boot for a period of 6 weeks. *Id.*

Mr. Wang declined to have an interpreter at this appointment. *Id.* Dr. Ho answered all questions. *Id.* Mr. Wang understood the treatment options and wished to proceed with

surgery. *Id.* Mr. Wang was provided with pre-surgical instructions. *Id.*

On May 5, 2017, Dr. Ho performed a left 1st metatarsophalangeal joint fusion on Mr. Wang at Kaiser Permanente Orthopedics in Bellevue. *Id.* On May 8, 2017, 3 days post-operation, Mr. Wang's left foot was examined to have healing incisions with mild swelling and no redness. *Id.* There was no evidence of infection, and the sutures were intact. *Id.* New dressings were applied. *Id.* Dr. Ho instructed Mr. Wang to continue with the CAM boot and heel weight bearing for 6 weeks. *Id.*

On May 15, 2017, Mr. Wang presented to Alison M. Chromy, PA-C, for a follow-up visit. *Id.* Mr. Wang was only in his CAM boot "sometimes," and admitted that he would take it off at home but walk on his heels. *Id.* Mr. Wang's x-rays revealed stable 1st MTP fusion, hardware intact without signs of failure. *Id.* Mr. Wang was assessed to be stable 1-week post-operation.

Id. Mr. Wang was instructed on the "importance of boot and that he should not be walking around without it…" *Id.*

On June 12, 2017, Mr. Wang presented to Dr. Ho for a follow-up visit. *Id.* Mr. Wang reported that he had been wearing his CAM boot very little. *Id.* Mr. Wang wore a regular dress shoe to the clinic for his appointment. Id. Mr. Wang was concerned about toe stiffness. Id. Dr. Ho's examination of the left foot revealed that the incision line was healing well, there were no signs of infection, and there was minimal swelling. *Id.* Dr. Ho assessed Mr. Wang to be stable 6 weeks post-operation. *Id*. Dr. Ho discussed with Mr. Wang the importance of the boot, and that failure to comply can lead to nonunion. Id. Dr. Ho instructed Mr. Wang to continue the CAM boot for another 4 weeks. *Id*. This 6-week follow-up appointment was the last appointment in which Mr. Wang presented to Dr. Ho. *Id*.

B. Mr. Wang Had Actual Knowledge of His Allegations of Medical Malpractice Prior to the Expiration of the Statute of Limitations on May 5, 2021, and Failed to Timely File Suit.

On March 30, 2020, records show that Mr. Wang sought the advice of an attorney, and that attorney had advised him that a review of his medical records by a qualified medical professional, in this case by an orthopedic surgeon, would be required for his case, and that the statute of limitations on his claims would pass on May 5, 2020. CP at 114, 132, 148, 273.

On April 9, 2020, Mr. Wang signed and executed a request for mediation to Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. CP at 53, 90, 115, 254. On April 29, 2020, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington acknowledged Mr. Wang's request for mediation and notified Mr. Wang that it would keep the claim open until May 5, 2021, at which time the statute of limitations would expire if a lawsuit was not filed. CP at 267-268.

On December 17, 2020, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington notified Mr. Wang that its review revealed no indication that the standard of care was breached, denied Mr. Wang's claim for compensation, and reminded Mr. Wang that he had until May 5, 2021, to initiate suit before his claims are

forever barred. CP at 156-157, 270-271. After Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington advised him twice about the deadline for filing suit, Mr. Wang did not do so until more than two years after it passed.

On May 8, 2023, Mr. Wang filed a Complaint with the Washington Medical Commission, alleging he has had complaints since the 2017 surgery. CP at 56-57, 257-258. The same Complaint stated that Mr. Wang got a second opinion from Dr. Clifford. CP at 57. Mr. Wang's medical records reflect that he saw Dr. Clifford in 2019, and Dr. Clifford informed Mr. Wang that there was a nonunion to the affected area. CP at 46, 83, 247. None of Mr. Wang's medical records state that the nonunion was proximately caused by a violation of standard of care by any provider. Id. Mr. Wang's Complaint to the Washington Medical Commission was closed by the Case Management Team on May 21, 2023, and Dr. Ho was notified on June 1, 2023. CP at 134, 150, 275. Mr. Wang requested reconsideration of his Complaint to the Washington Medical Commission on June 23, 2023. Id. The Washington Medical Commission Case Management Team determined that Mr. Wang did not submit any new information not previously provided in his original complaint. *Id.* On September 11, 2023, the Washington Medical Commission Reconsiderations Unit notified Plaintiff Mr. Wang that his Complaint will remain closed and that they could not take any further action. CP at 136, 152, 277.

C. Mr. Wang Filed the First Lawsuit, Cause No. 23-2-18202-2 KNT, on September 22, 2023, which was Dismissed Without Prejudice.

On September 22, 2023, Mr. Wang filed suit for the first time against Dr. Ho alleging the May 5, 2017, fusion surgery was negligent (Cause No. 23-3-18202-2 KNT). CP at 1-7, 222-229. On January 11, 2024, Dr. Ho filed a CR12 Motion to Dismiss and CR56 Motion for Summary Judgment seeking dismissal of Mr. Wang's first lawsuit for (1) insufficiency of service of process, (2) lack of evidence supporting his claim for medical negligence, and (3) because the statute of limitations had passed on Mr. Wang's claims. CP at 16-28. In Mr. Wang's Response to Dr. Ho's

dispositive Motion, Mr. Wang alleged that "he did not discover the medical malpractice until April 8, 2023." CP at 279-283.

On March 15, 2024, the Honorable Kristin Ballinger granted Dr. Ho's Motion to Dismiss without prejudice for failure to serve Dr. Ho with process within 90 days of filing. CP at 168-170. Judge Ballinger explained that, because Mr. Wang had not served Dr. Ho with the Summons and Complaint within 90 days of filing, she did not have power to decide the merits of the case. *Id.* Judge Ballinger noted that Plaintiff would be allowed to refile his case, after which the Defendant could bring a dismissal motion based on the statute of limitations and lack of expert testimony supporting the claim. *Id.*

D. Mr. Wang Filed the Second Lawsuit, Cause No. 24-2-06306-4 KNT, on March 21, 2024, which was Dismissed With Prejudice.

On March 21, 2024, Plaintiff Mr. Wang filed a second complaint, naming both Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho as Defendants and arising from the same fusion surgery on May 5, 2017. CP at 171-176. Both Kaiser

Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho asserted in their Answers, among other affirmative defenses, that Plaintiff's claims were barred by the State of Limitations. CP at 194; 202.

On June 28, 2024, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho filed their Motion for Summary Judgment under CR56 for (1) the expiration of the statute of limitations on all of Mr. Wang's claims, and (2) lack of competent expert witness to support any claim of violation of standard of care and proximate causation. CP at 288-302. Mr. Wang did not file any Response briefing to the dispositive motion by July 22, 2024, as required by CR56(c), or any time thereafter. CP at 384-On July 25, 2024, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of 387. Washington and Dr. Ho filed their Reply brief. Id. After considering all materials submitted and the oral argument of the parties, the trial court granted Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington and Dr. Ho's CR56 Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Mr. Wang's second lawsuit with prejudice. CP at 182-183.

E. The Court of Appeals affirmed Summary Judgment and Denied Mr. Wang's Motion for Reconsideration.

On direct appeal, Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed Summary Judgment, reasoning that Mr. Wang's complaint is barred by the statute of limitations because Mr. Wang discovered, or should have reasonably discovered, the condition underlying his claim in 2019 at the latest, and potentially as early as 2017. The unpublished Court of Appeals decision is attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

Following the Court of Appeals decision, Mr. Wang filed a Motion for Reconsideration requesting the Court of Appeals reconsider its decision that affirmed the trial court order. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration. The denial is attached hereto as **Appendix B.** His Petition for Review followed.

IV. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if (1) the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Affirming Summary Judgment Was Correct and Not in Conflict with Any Decision by This Court or the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Wang failed to allege any error in fact or law that would warrant reversal or remand. Pet. For Rev. He continues to confuse issues of law and has failed to identify any issue that would have changed the outcome of the summary judgment decision. *Id.* The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision on summary judgment because he failed to establish material facts to support his claim that there is a question of fact as to when he discovered the basis for his medical malpractice claim.

i. The Court of Appeals Did Not Depart from Precedent When It Correctly Determined Mr.

Wang's Claims were Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

The statute of limitations on medical negligence claims is governed by RCW 4.16.350, which provides, in pertinent part:

Any civil action for damages for injury as a result of health care...against:

- (3) A person licensed by this state to provide health care...
- ... based upon alleged professional negligence shall be commenced within three years of the act or omission alleged to have caused the injury or condition, or one year of the time the patient... discovered or reasonably should have discovered that the injury or condition as caused by said act or omission...

(emphasis added). The three-year statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.350(3) can be extended by one year pursuant to RCW 7.70.110, which provides:

A written, good faith request for mediation of a dispute related to damages for injury occurring as a result of health care prior to filing a cause of action under Chapter 7.70 RCW tolls the statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350 for one year. In a medical malpractice case, "the three-year limitations

period in RCW 4.16.350(3) begins to run from the date of the act

or omission alleged to have caused injury." *Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Ctr., Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 854, 858, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998).

Under Washington's discovery rule, a cause of action accrues when a party knows or reasonably should have known the essential elements of the possible cause of action *Clare v*. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 129 Wn. App. 599, 602, 123 P.3d 465 (2005) (internal citations omitted). The plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the facts constituting the claim were not and could not have been discovered by due diligence within the applicable limitations period. Id. at 603 (citing G.W. Constr. Corp. v. Professional Serv. Indus. Inc., 70 Wn. App. 360, 367, 853 P.2d 484 (1993)). Although whether a party exercised due diligence is normally a factual issue, when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law. *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals has ruled consistently on statute of limitations issues involving the discovery rule in medical

malpractice cases. In *Bozung v. MultiCare Health Sys.*, the Court of Appeals affirmed a trial court's Summary Judgment where Plaintiff's complaint was not filed within the three-year statute of limitations provided in RCW 4.16.350, and no tolling provision applied. 2024 Wash.App.LEXIS 1033 (Div. 1, unpublished) (May 20, 2024).² In *Bozung*, the Appellant asserted that "genuine issues of material fact exist as to when he discovered the claims against MultiCare," and the Court of Appeals disagreed. *Id.* at 19. The Court of Appeals reasoned:

The one-year "post-discovery period" begins to run "when the plaintiff 'discovered or reasonably should have discovered all of the essential elements of [his or] her possible cause of action, *i.e.*, duty, breach, causation, damages." *Zaleck v. Everett Clinic*, 60 Wn. App. 107, 110-11, 802 P.2d 826 (1991) (quoting *Ohler v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp.*, 92 Wn.2d 507, 511, 598 P.2d 1358 (1979)). A cause of action will accrue when a plaintiff should have discovered the basis for the cause of action "even if actual discovery did not occur until later." *Allen v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 753, 759, 826 P.2d 200 (1992)

² Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as nonbinding authorities, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1(a).

(emphasis added). "To discover a 'breach' in a medical malpractice action, the plaintiff need not have known with certainty that the health care provider was negligent. Instead, the plaintiff need only have had, or should have had, information that the provider was possibly negligent." Zaleck, 60 Wn. App. at 112. "The key consideration under the discovery rule is the factual, as opposed to the legal, basis of the cause of action." Adcox v. Child's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 15, 35, 864 P.2d 921 (1993). Nevertheless, "a question of fact may be determined as a matter of law where reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion." Cho v. City of Seattle, 185 Wn. App. 10, 15, 341 P.3d 309 (2014).

Id. at *19 (emphasis added).

Court of Appeals, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed summary judgment in this case. The facts constituting Mr. Wang's claim had been known to him since the day of his surgery on May 5, 2017. Mr. Wang alleged in his Petition for Review that "from the beginning of [his] left foot Bunion surgery... [Dr. Ho's] unqualified thumb surgery was a complete failure...which caused [him] great pain..." Pet. For Rev. at 2 (emphasis added). Additionally, per Mr. Wang's Complaint to the Washington

Medical Commission, since the day that Dr. Ho performed the bunion surgery on May 5, 2017, it has caused Mr. Wang's "left foot always with pain..." and that "since the surgery in 2017, [Mr. Wang has been] unhappy, upset, angry, disappointed..." CP at 56-57, 257-258. Mr. Wang's own submissions to the courts, as well as to the Washington Medical Commission, establish he had actual knowledge of the elements of his negligence claim as early as 2017.

Even if the Court disagrees, Mr. Wang certainly had the requisite knowledge to file suit as early as 2019. Mr. Wang's submissions to the Washington Medical Commission reflects that "when [Mr. Wang] had seen Dr. Clifford for this **back in 2019** he was informed that there was indeed a nonunion to the affected area. They had started discussion of possible first MPJ fusion revision versus first MPJ implant, [but Mr. Wang] did not end up undergoing surgery..." CP at 46, 83, 247 (emphasis added). None of Mr. Wang's medical records state that the

nonunion was proximately caused by a violation of standard of care by any provider. *Id*.

By Mr. Wang's own submissions and admissions, Mr. Wang has had information on potential provider negligence since the date of surgery on May 5, 2017, and at the latest, on December 19, 2019. In light of all of the evidence, Mr. Wang failed to meet his burden of proving that the facts constituting the claim were not and could not have been discovered by due diligence within the applicable limitations period. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly determined, consistent with precedent, that Mr. Wang's medical malpractice claims are barred by the statute of limitations and appropriately affirmed summary judgment.

ii. The Court of Appeals Did Not Depart from Precedent When It Correctly Did Not Address Mr. Wang's Medical Negligence Claims After It had Determined Mr. Wang' Claims were Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

It is well established that in medical malpractice cases, expert testimony is required to establish a prima facie claim for

medical negligence because such analysis is beyond the expertise of a layperson. *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983). A health care provider's conduct is to be measured against the standard of care of a reasonably prudent practitioner possessing the degree of skill, care and learning possessed by other members of the same area of specialty in the State of Washington. *Id.* at 451.

Mr. Wang needed to show that (1) Respondents breached the acceptable standard of care, and (2) this breach was the proximate cause of his injuries. RCW 7.70.040(1). Expert testimony is usually required to establish both the standard of care and causation elements of medical malpractice claims. *Harris*, 99 Wn.2d at 451.

Even if the statute of limitations had not yet expired on Mr. Wang's claims, Mr. Wang failed to meet his burden of proving a *prima facie* case for medical malpractice. Mr. Wang inappropriately asserted that the subsequent surgery performed by his treating provider, Dr. Hutchinson, is "super premium

qualified," and that the Dr. Ho's surgery is "inferior." Pet. For Rev. 4. Yet Mr. Wang failed to produce competent expert testimony to show that (1) Respondents breached the acceptable standard of care, and (2) this breach was the proximate cause of his injuries. RCW 7.70.040(1).

None of medical records from Mr. Wang's treating providers, Dr. Craig Clifford and Dr. Hutchinson, contain any affidavits from competent medical experts necessary to defeat a Motion for Summary Judgment. CP at 46, 83, 247. None of these medical records testify that, on a more probable than not basis, "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty," that Dr. Ho and Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington (1) violated standard of care; and (2) proximately caused Mr. Wang's alleged damages. See, e.g., *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 451, 663 P.2d 113 (1983); *Pelton v. Tri-State Mem. Hosp., Inc.*, 66 Wn. App. 350, 355, 831 P.2d 1147 (1992); *Shoberg v. Kelly*, 1 Wn. App. 673, 677, 463 P.2d 280 (1969).

Even if the statute of limitations had not yet expired on his medical negligence claims, Mr. Wang needed a medical expert to establish a *prima facia* claim for medical negligence. He failed to provide the requisite evidence or facts sufficient to establish a legitimate claim that would survive summary judgment. Accordingly, this Court should deny his Petition for Review.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Mr. Wang has not raised any issue that implicates an issue of substantial public interest that would warrant review by this Court. Pet. For Rev. Mr. Wang is raising issues that were properly addressed by the trial court and Court of Appeals, namely that his claims are barred by the statute of limitations, and that he does not have the requisite competent medical expert testimony to establish a *prima facie* claim for medical negligence. The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the dismissal of his medical malpractice claims.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Does not Implicate Either the U.S. Constitution or the Washington State Constitution.

Mr. Wang's Petition only argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming summary judgment of his claims. Pet. For Rev. Mr. Wang does not assert or provide any argument that the Court of Appeals decision implicates the U.S. Constitution or the Washington Statement Constitution. *Id.* These issues should be considered abandoned on appeal and not considered for purposes of Petition for Review. *Blue Spirits Distilling, LLC v. Washington State Liquor & Cannabis Bd.*, 15 Wn. App.2d 779, 794, 478 P.3d 153 (2020) (quoting *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107 147 P.3d 641 (2006).

D. Mr. Wang's Petition for Review Does Not Comply with Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4(c), as well as 18.17(a) and 18.17(b).

RAP 13.4(c) requires that the petition for review contain under appropriate headings, and in the order here indicated:

- (1) *Cover*....
- (2) Tables. A table of contents... and a

table of cases...

- (3) *Identity of Petitioner...*
- (4) Citation to Court of Appeals Decision. A reference to the Court of Appeals decision which petitioner wants reviewed, the date of filing the decision, and the date of any order granting or denying a motion for reconsideration.
- (5) Issues Presented for Review. A concise statement of the issues presented for review.
- (6) Statement of the Case...
- (7) Argument. A direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument.
- (8) Conclusion...
- (9) Appendix. An appendix containing a copy of the Court of Appeals decision, any order granting or denying a motion for reconsideration of the decision, and copies of statutes and constitutional provisions relevant to the issues presented for review.

Moreover, RAP 18.17(a) provides certain formatting requirements regarding marginations, spacing, and font sizing, and RAP 18.17(b) requires that all documents filed "contain a short statement above the signature line certifying the number of words contained in the document..."

Mr. Wang's Petition for Review does not comply with any of these rules. First, Mr. Wang's Petition for Review does not contain the items required under RAP 13.4(c)(2)-(6) and RAP 13.4(8)(9); Mr. Wang did not properly cite to and did not include in an Appendix the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion for which he is petitioning for review, or the Court of Appeals' denial of his Motion for Reconsideration. Pet. For Rev. Both are attached hereto as **Appendix A** and **Appendix B**, respectively. Second, Mr. Wang's Petition for Review does not comply with the marginations, spacing, or font size requirements listed under RAP 18.17(a). Third, Mr. Wang's Petition for Review does not contain the requisite Certificate of Compliance as under RAP 18.17(b). This Court should deny Mr. Wang's Petition for Review.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Wang fails to present a sufficient basis under RAP 13.4(b) to justify the acceptance of discretionary review by this Court. Therefore, the Court should deny his Petition for Review.

I certify that this brief produced through word processing software contains 4,379 words in compliance with RAP 18.17, exclusive of the title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, this certification of compliance, certificate of service, and signature blocks, as calculated by the word processing software used to prepare this motion.